
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Northern Area Planning Committee 

Place: View the Online Meeting of the NAPC Here  

Date: Wednesday 9 December 2020 

Time: 3.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Ellen Ghey, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718259 or email 
ellen.ghey@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Tony Trotman (Chairman) 
Cllr Peter Hutton (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Chuck Berry 
Cllr Christine Crisp 
Cllr Gavin Grant 
Cllr Howard Greenman 

Cllr Mollie Groom 
Cllr Chris Hurst 
Cllr Toby Sturgis 
Cllr Brian Mathew 
Cllr Ashley O'Neill 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Ben Anderson 
Cllr Bill Douglas 
Cllr Ruth Hopkinson 
Cllr Bob Jones MBE 

 

  
 

Cllr Jacqui Lay 
Cllr Melody Thompson 
Cllr Nick Murry 
Cllr Philip Whalley 

 

 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MDA4MzZiYzAtMjhiNS00ZmQ3LTk5ZjktNTQ5MjM5OGIyNjYw%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2219d16008-83df-4341-8edd-530881bc3af8%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for a live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a written statement or question for an online meeting you are consenting 
that you will be recorded presenting this or this may be presented by an officer during 
the meeting and will be available on the public record. The meeting may also be 
recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  
  
 
 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=14031


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 11 
November 2020.  

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee.  

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. During the 
ongoing COVID-19 situation the Council is operating revised procedures and the 
public are able participate in meetings online after registering with the officer 
named on this agenda, and in accordance with the deadlines below. 
 
Guidance on how to participate in this meeting online.  
 
View the online meeting of the NAPC here.  
 
Statements 
 
Members of the public who wish to submit a statement in relation to an item on 
this agenda should submit this is electronically to the officer named on this 
agenda no later than 5pm on Monday 7 December 2020. 
 
Statements should: 
 

 State whom the statement is from (including if representing another 
person or organisation) 

 Clearly state the key points 

 If read aloud, be readable in approximately 3 minutes (for members of the 
public and statutory consultees) and in 4 minutes (for Parish Council 
representatives – 1 per Parish Council) 

 
Up to three objectors and three supporters are normally allowed for each item 
on the agenda, plus statutory consultees and parish councils. 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Guidance%20on%20Public%20Participation%20in%20Online%20Meeting&ID=4563&RPID=23040249
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MDA4MzZiYzAtMjhiNS00ZmQ3LTk5ZjktNTQ5MjM5OGIyNjYw%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%225546e75e-3be1-4813-b0ff-26651ea2fe19%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2219d16008-83df-4341-8edd-530881bc3af8%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


 

Page 4 

 

 
Those submitting statements would be expected to join the online meeting to 
read the statement themselves, or to provide a representative to read the 
statement on their behalf. 
 
Questions 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions electronically to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later 
than 5pm on Wednesday 2 December 2020 in order to be guaranteed of a 
written response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be 
submitted no later than 5pm on Friday 4 December 2020. 
 
Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. 
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter 
is urgent. Details of any questions received will be circulated to members prior to 
the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website; 
they will be taken as read at the meeting. 
 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 9 - 10) 

 To receive details of completed and pending appeals and other updates as 
appropriate. 

7   Planning Applications  

 To consider and determine the following planning applications. 

 7a   19/11601/OUT - Land South of Low Lane, Calne, SN11 8EQ (Pages 
11 - 36) 

 Outline application with all matters reserved for residential development of up to 
26 entry level dwellings, associated infrastructure, open space and landscaping 
with creation of new vehicular access from Low Lane. 

8   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency. 

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 

 



 
 
 

 
 
Northern Area Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE NORTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 11 NOVEMBER 2020 AT ONLINE MEETING. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Tony Trotman (Chairman), Cllr Peter Hutton (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Chuck Berry, 
Cllr Christine Crisp, Cllr Gavin Grant, Cllr Howard Greenman, Cllr Mollie Groom, 
Cllr Chris Hurst, Cllr Toby Sturgis, Cllr Brian Mathew and Cllr Ashley O'Neill 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr Alan Hill 
  
  

 
32 Apologies 

 
There were no apologies for absence received. 
 

33 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 7 October 2020 were presented. 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2020 
as a true and correct record. 
 

34 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

35 Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman explained the procedure should a recess be required. 
 

36 Public Participation 
 
The Chairman explained the rules of public participation and the procedure to 
be followed at the meeting. 
 
No questions had been received from Councillors or members of the public. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

37 Bridleway No. 89 (part), 89A and 89B Diversion Order and Definitive Map 
and Statement Modification Order 2019 - Calne Without 
 
Public Participation 
 
A statement in support of the item from Mr Graham Bennett, on behalf of the 
British Horse Society, was read out by Mr Derek Walsh. 
 
Mr Derek Walsh, on behalf of the land owners, spoke in support of the item. 
 
Councillor Rob Hislop, on behalf of Calne Without Parish Council, spoke in 
support of the item.  
 
Sally Madgwick, the report author and Definitive Map and Highway Records 
Manager, introduced the report which recommended that the Committee 
considered the five duly made objections to the Order, and considered to either 
exercise Wiltshire Council’s power to abandon the Order or to support the 
confirmation of the Order and to send it to the Secretary of State for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (SoSEFRA). 
 
Reference was made to the presentation slides (Agenda Supplement 1) and the 
tests to make or confirm an order to divert were discussed alongside the 
matters on the existing and proposed routes that should be considered or 
disregarded for comparison purposes. 
 
Key issues highlighted included: consideration of Sections 119(3) & (6) of the 
Highways Act 1980; convenience of the new path; effect on public enjoyment of 
the path or way as a whole; effect on land served by the existing right of way; 
effect on land served by the new right of way; consideration of the Rights of 
Way Improvement Plan; regard to the needs of agriculture, forestry and 
conservation of biodiversity; and consideration of the Open Spaces Society 
objection to the validity of the Order, Section 119(3). 
 
Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions to the 
officer. The main points of focus included: the erection of three stiles along the 
adjoining footpaths, as raised by the Open Spaces Society objection, and if they 
should be considered. In response, officers noted that the stiles should not be 
taken into consideration as they related to the convenience of the adjoining 
footpaths and not the proposed bridleway. It was additionally noted that if the 
Committee were minded to support the confirmation of the Order these stiles 
would be replaced by appropriate alternatives that would meet the requirements 
of The Equality Act 2010. 
 
Members of the public, as detailed above, had the opportunity to address the 
Committee and speak on the item. 
 
Local Unitary Member Councillor Alan Hill spoke in support of the item. The 
main points of focus were: historical and existing security and privacy concerns 
of the land owners; continued strong support of the local community; origins of 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

the existing route; higher levels of accessibility along the proposed route; and 
general use of the proposed route for enjoyment.  
 
Councillor Ashley O’Neill moved to support the confirmation of the Order and 
that the matter should be passed to the SoSEFRA for determination, with a 
recommendation for approval, as it satisfied the tests required by Section 119 
(6) of the Highways Act 1980. This motion was seconded by Councillor Gavin 
Grant.  
 
During the debate members discussed the duties of the Council to meet the 
accessibility requirements necessary to be in line with The Equality Act 2010 
alongside the negative impacts experienced by the land owner as a result of the 
existing route. The lack of maintenance towards the existing route was noted 
and the convenience of the new route in comparison to the existing was 
discussed with regard to the topography, terrain and gradient.  
 
Members highlighted the depth of work undertaken by Rights of Way officers. 
 
The Chairman reiterated the tests to confirm an order to divert and adjourned 
the meeting to seek legal advice from Wiltshire Council Senior Solicitor, Sarah 
Marshall.  
 
The meeting was adjourned from 16:19pm – 16:24pm. 
 
It was clarified that in order to support the confirmation of the Order, as per 
Paragraph 40 (ii) of the report, the Committee must give detailed reasons for its 
decision. Councillors Ashley O’Neill and Gavin Grant as proposer and seconder 
for the motion reiterated their support for the confirmation of the Order after due 
consideration and felt that the proposed bridleway would not be substantially 
less convenient.  
 
Councillor Toby Sturgis suggested an amendment to the motion noting that the 
wording should include mention of the lack of maintenance and the, at points, 
inconvenience of the existing path in comparison of the proposed route. Both 
Councillors Ashley O’Neill and Gavin Grant agreed to the amendment to the 
motion. 
 
Additionally, Councillor Toby Sturgis suggested a further amendment to the 
motion that stated that the finalised wording of the recommendation of the 
Committee be delegated to the Chairman, Legal Officer and Democratic 
Services Officer. Both Councillors Ashley O’Neill and Gavin Grant agreed to the 
amendment to the motion. 
 
During the vote the Democratic Services Officer called upon each member who 
confirmed they had been able to hear, and where possible, see all relevant 
materials and indicated their vote in turn. 
 
The Committee considered the application, the objections, and the wide support 
that the application had received and were satisfied that the application satisfied 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

the tests required by Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, in particular that in 
taking the decision the Committee had due regard to; 
 

i. The impact of the new path and that Members did not believe the new 

path would be substantially less convenient to the public; 

ii. The effect of the new path for use and enjoyment by the public. Members 

took the view that the new path would facilitate better use of the route 

by the public as a whole; 

iii. To the impact on other land served by the existing Right of Way and took 

the view that the new path would have no such impacts; 

iv. The effect on the land of where the new Rights of Way would be created 

and believed there would be no adverse impacts on said land. 

 
The Committee considered that it was expedient in the interests of the land 
owner to enhance privacy and security and the proposed new path would not be 
substantially less convenient to the public. It was expedient to confirm the Order 
taking into account the effect the diversion would have on public enjoyment, 
there would be no adverse impact on the land where the new path would be 
created, and the proposed new route of the Bridleway conformed to the 
provisions of the Wiltshire Rights of Way improvement plan. 
  
 
Resolved 
 
The Committee in making the proposal, acknowledged and considered the 
tests set out in Section 119 and Section 119 (6) of The Highways Act 1980 
and supported the confirmation of the Order and to send the Order to the 
Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for 
determination. 
 

38 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00 - 4.40 pm) 

 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Ellen Ghey of Democratic Services, 
direct line 01225 718259, e-mail ellen.ghey@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 
 

Page 8



Wiltshire Council   
Northern Area Planning Committee 

9th December 2020 
Planning Appeals Received between 25/09/2020 and 27/11/2020 
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 

COMM 
Appeal Type Officer 

Recommend 
Appeal 
Start Date 

Overturn 
at Cttee 

19/03874/OUT 
 

Land South of Broad 
Town Primary School 
Broad Town Road 
Broad Town, SN4 7RE 

BROAD TOWN 
 

Residential development of up to 10 
entry-level affordable dwellings, with 
associated access roads and car 
parking, a community car park, a publicly 
accessible village green, landscaping, 
drainage and other associated 
infrastructure. 

DEL 
 

Hearing 
 

Refuse 11/11/2020 
 

No 

19/07399/FUL 
 

Middle Cottage 
East Tytherton 
Chippenham 
Wiltshire, SN15 4LX 

BREMHILL 
 

Demolition of existing single storey 
extension; new double storey extension 
to replace. 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 
 

Refuse 27/10/2020 
 

No 

19/07559/LBC 
 

Middle Cottage 
East Tytherton 
Chippenham 
Wiltshire, SN15 4LX 

BREMHILL 
 

Demolition of existing single storey 
extension; new double storey extension 
to replace. 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 
 

Refuse 27/10/2020 
 

No 

19/11230/CLP 
 

Balmedie 
29A Seagry Road 
Lower Stanton St 
Quinton, Chippenham 
Wiltshire, SN14 6DB 

STANTON ST. 
QUINTIN 
 

Lawful Development Certificate for a 
proposed new wall or fence on north 
boundary. 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 
 

Refuse 22/10/2020 
 

No 

20/00087/ENF Box Hill Yard, Ashley 
Box, Wiltshire 

BOX Alleged unauthorised buildings DEL Written 
Representations 

- 02/11/2020 No 

20/02214/FUL 
 

1 The Buffer 
Purton, Swindon 
Wiltshire, SN5 4GT 

PURTON 
 

Garage conversion & single storey 
extension. 
 

DEL 
 

House Holder 
Appeal 
 

Refuse 20/10/2020 
 

No 

20/02410/OUT 
 

Land to the rear of 
Marlborough House 
Broad Town, Swindon 
SN4 7RG 

BROAD TOWN 
 

Erection of a detached self-build dwelling 
and associated infrastructure with some 
matters reserved 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 
 

Refuse 07/10/2020 
 

No 

20/05796/FUL 
 

Brockhurst Farm 
Stables, Greenhill 
Swindon 
Royal Wootton Bassett 
SN4 8EH 

LYDIARD 
MILLICENT 
 

Erection of Replacement Dwelling 
(Revised Plans), erection of detached 
outbuilding and change of use of land to 
residential. 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 
 

Refuse 17/11/2020 
 

No 

 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



 

Planning Appeals Decided between 25/09/2020 and 27/11/2020 
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 

or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Decision 

Decision 
Date 

Costs 
Awarded? 

18/00982/ENF Hare And Hounds 
Pickwick, Corsham 
Wiltshire, SN13 0HY 

CORSHAM Alleged unauthorised structure 
(large bin enclosure) 

DEL Hearing - Enforcement 
Notice Upheld 

07/10/2020 None 

18/09873/OUT 

 
 

Kington Langley 
Garage, Kington 
Langley, Chippenham, 
SN15 5PY 

KINGTON 
LANGLEY/ 
KINGTON ST. 
MICHAEL 

Redevelopment involving 
demolition of existing garage 
buildings, retention and 
refurbishment of existing 
bungalow and erection of 4 
dwellings and associated works 
( access not reserved) 

DEL Written Reps Refuse Dismissed 29/09/2020 None 

19/08996/FUL 
 

Ivy House Lakes 
Whitehill Lane 
Grittenham 
Chippenham 
Wiltshire, SN15 4JU 

ROYAL 
WOOTTON 
BASSETT 
 

Conversion of redundant 
agricultural building to two 
dwellings and associated works. 
 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Dismissed 15/10/2020 
 

Appellant 
applied for 
Costs - 
REFUSED 

19/10252/PNCOU 
 

Barn adjacent to  
9 Lower Lodge Farm 
Lower Lodge 
Wiltshire, SN15 3QZ 

CHIPPENHAM 
 

Notification for Prior Approval 
under Class Q for a change of 
use of Agricultural Building to a 
single dwelling house and 
associated operational 
development 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Dismissed 29/09/2020 
 

None 

19/12094/FUL Allspheres Farm, 
Hankerton, 
Malmesbury 

HANKERTON Enlargement of Farm Dwelling 
by Adding a First Floor 

DEL Hearing Refuse Allowed with 
Conditions 

27/11/2020 Appellant 
applied for 
Costs - 
REFUSED 

20/01994/FUL 
 

19 Milbourne Park 
Milbourne, SN16 9JE 

ST PAUL 
MALMESBURY 
WITHOUT 

Subdivision of existing plot and 
construction of a new two 
bedroom bungalow 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Dismissed 22/10/2020 
 

None 

 

P
age 10



REPORT OUTLINE FOR AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES Report No. 

Date of Meeting 9th December 2020 

Application Number 19/11601/OUT 

Site Address Land South of Low Lane 

Calne 

Wiltshire 

SN11 8EQ 

Proposal Outline application with all matters reserved for residential 

development of up to 26 entry level dwellings, associated 

infrastructure, open space and landscaping with creation of new 

vehicular access from Low Lane 

Applicant Robert Hitchins Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Calne 

Electoral Division  Cllr Ian Thorn 

Grid Ref  

Type of application Outline Planning 

Case Officer  Charmian Eyre-Walker 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
 
The application was called to committee to by Cllr Ian Thorn to allow the Committee to assess 
the scale, visual impact, relationship to adjoining properties, design and highways impact of the 
proposal.  
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that the 
application be approved.  

 
 

2. Report Summary 
 
Issues to be addressed: 

 

 Principle of the development 

 Design and layout 

 Ecology 

 Landscaping 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7a



 Highways 

 Drainage 

 S106 requirements 
 
160 letters of objection have been received. 
 
Calne Town Council objects to the application. 
 
Calne Without Parish Council raise no comments 

 
 

3. The Proposal 
 
This is an application for the erection of up to 26 dwellinghouses. 
 
The proposal is in outline with all matters reserved. Whilst the application is submitted in outline, 
an illustrative masterplan is included to show how the site is capable of accommodating the 
proposed number of dwellings and the design of the access. The access point an dimensions 
are shown on an approved plan, but as the internal layout is not, this still requires a further 
Reserved Matters application. 
 
 
The application specifically seeks permission for Entry Level Housing and thus will be 100% 
Affordable as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF (2019). Paragraph 71 of the NPPF describes 
Entry Level Housing as being suitable for first time buyers (or those looking to rent their first 
home, unless the need for such homes is already being met within the authority’s area. Such 
sites should not be on land already allocated for housing and should be: 
 

a) Comprise of entry-level housing that offer one or more types of affordable housing as 
defined in annex 2 of the NPPF; and 

b) Be adjacent to existing settlements, proportionate to them (no larger than 1ha or exceed 
5% of the size of the existing settlement; and comply with any local design policies and 
standards. 

 
The application is accompanied by A Needs Assessment carried out by Pioneer Housing and 
development consultants. In summary, it concludes that the need for Entry Level/First Time 
Buyer Affordable Houses for Sale is: 
 

 640 per annum in the whole of Wiltshire are needed (based on review of the SHMA) with 
1582 households on the Help to Buy Agent Affordable Housing Wait List. 

 In the Calne Community Area there is an identified need for 33 houses per annum 
(based on the review of SHMA) with 167 households on the Help To Buy Agent 
Affordable Housing Waiting List. Even if current net additional affordable homes for sale 
at 8 per year is delivered, this still represents a large shortfall in meeting the need. 

 
 

4. Site Description 
 
The application site is a 0.99ha roughly rectangularly shaped, but very linear piece of land to the 

South-East of the Market Town of Calne. The site is outside the settlement boundary for Calne 

Page 12



and, as such, in planning terms, is in open countryside.  Calne is defined as a Principle 

Settlement within the Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

 
The site is located in a strip to the immediate south of Low Lane which connects to Anchor 
Road and Mill Street to the West. To the East Low Lane connects to a rural network of lanes 
leading to Lower Compton Quarry.  
 
The application site is rectangular in shape to the south of the lane but running along a part of 
its length. There is residential development to the north and west with open countryside to the 
east and south.  
 
The site is currently used for grazing, with a mature hedge forming the boundary to Low Lane 
and on the opposite boundary. Low Lane rises up to the east so that the site is gently sloped. All 
the housing along Low Lane faces onto it. 
 
A housing allocation made via the Calne Neighbourhood Plan (CCNPH1) is under construction 
to the north west of the site. 
 
The site does not lie in any designated area being Flood Zone 1, outside any Conservation Area 
with only two grade II listed buildings being over 130m away. 
 
 
5. Planning History 

 
N/05/01603/HRN – Permitted the removal of approx. 5m of hedge abutting Low Lane to the 
South-West of the site. 
  
 
6. Planning Policy  

 
Wiltshire Core Strategy 

 

CP1 Settlement Strategy 

CP2 Delivery Strategy 

CP3 Infrastructure 

CP8 Spatial Strategy: Calne Community Area 

CP43 Providing Affordable Homes 

CP50 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

CP51 Landscape 

CP56 Contaminated Land 

CP57 Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping 

CP58 Heritage 

CP60 Sustainable Transport 

CP61 Transport and Development 

CP67 Flood Risk 

 

North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 Policies 
 
NE14 Trees and the control of development 

Page 13



NE18 Noise and pollution 
H4 Residential development in the open countryside 
 
NPPF 
 
Section 3 Plan-making 
Section 4 Decision-making 
Section 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
Section 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Section 9 Promoting sustainable transport 
Section 12 Achieving well-designed places 
Section 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Section 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Wiltshire Housing Site Allocations Plan 
 
Adopted 25th February 2020. 
 
Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan (Made February 2018) 
 
Policy H1 – Housing Allocation 
Policy H2 – Affordable Housing 
Policy H4 – Settlement Boundaries and Housing Sites. 
Policy GA2 – Highways Impact 
Policy BE1 – Integration and Landscaping 
Policy BE2 – Design Principles and Local Distinctiveness 
Policy BE3 – Parking Provision 
Policy NE3 - Biodiversity 
 
 

 

7. Consultations 

 

Calne Town Council object on the following grounds:- 

 

The Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan seeks to empower the communities of Calne and 

Calne Without to make decisions about future development; including to say where, when and 

how further housing or commercial building should take place. 

 

There is no longer a shortfall in the indicative housing requirement in Calne Town or in the 

Calne Community Area remainder area and therefore no requirement to allocate sites for 

housing. 

 

The application was considered at the Town Development & Planning Committee on 18th 

December which was attended by  25 local residents.  Residents spoke against the application 

in relation to access, pedestrian and cyclist safety, proposal being contrary to the Local Plan, 

impact on the local ecology and loss of an historic pond. 

 

Page 14



The following objections are raised: 

 

Access – The only vehicular access to Low Lane is via Mill Street and Anchor Road or Brewer’s 

Lane and Anchor Road.   These roads are narrow and without footpaths in places.  Brewers 

Lane is the designated walking and cycle route for pupils accessing Kingsbury Green Academy 

and Holy Trinity School.  Low Lane is the access point to the national cycle network route 403 

and Low Lane is the on road part of the route.  The increase of vehicular traffic will affect 

pedestrians and cyclists. 

 

The proposal is contrary to the Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan - Policy GA2 – Highway 

Impact 

 

The proposal would detrimentally impact the highway network in terms of congestion and/or 

safety and does not include for the appropriate mitigation of these impacts by highway 

improvements and/or financial contributions for the measures required. 

 

The proposal is likely to adversely affect air quality through Calne town centre and the Air 

Quality Management Area and does not demonstrate that measures can be taken to effectively 

mitigate emission levels in order to protect public health, environmental quality and amenity. 

The proposal is contrary to the Wiltshire Core Strategy – Core Policy 55 Air quality. 

Development proposals, which by virtue of their scale, nature or location are likely to exacerbate 

existing areas of poor air quality, will need to demonstrate that measures can be taken to 

effectively mitigate emission levels in order to protect public health, environmental quality and 

amenity. 

 

The proposal is contrary to Wiltshire Core Strategy Policy 57 ix - ensuring that the public realm, 

including new roads and other rights of way, are designed to create places of character which 

are legible, safe and accessible in accordance with Core Policy 66 (Strategic Transport 

Network). 

 

Ecological & Environmental 

The proposal is contrary to the Wiltshire Core Strategy Policy 50 Biodiversity and geodiversity in 

that the proposal does not demonstrate how it would protect features of nature conservation and 

geological value as part of the design rationale. There is an expectation that such features shall 

be retained, buffered, and managed favourably. 

 

Housing Allocation & Policy H4 

The proposal is contrary to Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan Policy H1 – Housing 

Allocation & Policy H4 – Settlement Boundaries and Housing Sites - The proposal sits outside 

the existing allocated area for Housing and outside the settlement boundary of Calne which 

serves a specific purpose in that it is intended to contain the growth of the town and enable 

development to take place in a coherent manner, maintaining the structure and form of the 

existing settlement geography. 

 

Page 15



Calne Without Parish Council – No comment. 

 

Drainage – Following the submission of further information within the drainage strategy, The 

Drainage Officer supports the proposal. 

 

Highways Officer – No objection subject to the full details of the access, parking, both vehicle 

and cycle, turning and mitigation/improvements being submitted. It is not considered that the 

proposed traffic generation would be detrimental to the surrounding highways network as it 

would not be considered to be a material increase on the existing traffic levels experienced on 

Anchor Rd. The contributions (£10k) towards improvements to footways/crossings would be 

considered to  be an enhancement to the surrounding pedestrian network. 

 

Education – The local schools have sufficient capacity and no contribution are required. 

 

Public Protection – Agree with the findings of the Air Quality Assessment and has no objections 

subject to a condition regarding ULEV infrastructure. 

 

Housing - The Entry Level Affordable Housing Need Report submitted with the planning 

application clearly demonstrated that there is sufficient need for all of the dwellings to be 

provided as discounted market sale housing, sold at a discount of 20% below market value, 

however on this occasion and in line with the NPPF which allows entry-level exception sites to 

comprise of one or more types of affordable housing as defined in Annex 2 of the NPPF, the 

applicant is willing to agree to the Council’s suggested tenure split: 

 

 27% Affordable Rent – 7no. dwellings 

 10% Discount Market Sale (with a 20% discount) – 3no. dwellings 

 63% Shared Ownership – 16no. dwellings. 

 

Ecology Officer – No objections subject to conditions. 

 

Urban Design Officer – No objections subject to conditions. 

 

Spatial Plans – States that: 

 

Settlement boundaries were reviewed through the Wiltshire Housing Site Allocations Plan 

(WHSAP) which was adopted on 25th February 2020. This site is located outside of the Calne 

settlement boundary but part of the site is adjacent to it.  

 

It is noted that this application is for entry-level homes only. The Wiltshire Core Strategy 

(adopted January 2015) does not contain policies on entry-level homes; this will be addressed 

through the emerging Local Plan Review which is currently at an early stage of preparation. In 

light of this, paragraph 212 of the NPPF states that 'the policies in this Framework are material 

considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of 

Page 16



its publication. Plans may also need to be revised to reflect policy changes which this 

replacement Framework has made.' 

 

NPPF paragraph 71 requires local planning authorities to support the development of entry-level 

exception sites unless the need for such homes is already being met within the authority’s area. 

Further information from Wiltshire Council's Housing Team should be sought in respect of 

whether this need is already being met, and to confirm if the entry-level homes comprise of at 

least one type of affordable housing. 

 

NPPF paragraph 71 requires entry-level sites to be 'on land which is not already allocated for 

housing' - we can confirm that this site is not already allocated for housing. 

 

NPPF paragraph 71 (b) requires entry-level sites to be 'adjacent to existing settlements, 

proportionate in size to them, not compromise the protection given to areas or assets of 

particular importance in this Framework, and comply with any local design policies and 

standards.' The site appears to be adjacent (in part) to the existing settlement. The site is for 

0.99ha and therefore does not exceed one hectare or exceed 5% of the size of Calne. As to 

whether the site compromises the protection given to areas or assets of particular importance in 

the NPPF - further information should be sought from relevant teams within the Council for 

expert opinion. As to whether it complies with local design policies and standards, relevant 

policies in the Wiltshire Core Strategy and Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan should be 

considered and the Council's Urban Design team consulted for expert opinion. 

 

Archaeology – No comment. 

 

Tree Officer – No objection subject to retention of shown trees. 

 

Crime Prevention Officer – Has concerns about the amount of public land, with potential for 

gathering/anti-social behaviour; lack of defensible space; parking dissociated from homes; 

double stacked parking shared between homes and POS/LAP visitors. 

 

Public Open Space Officer – States that a LAP has been proposed as well as some POS areas: 

the developers will need to meet these area requirements and should adjust the size of the 

proposed LAP and POS accordingly. If the entire provision cannot be included on-site, then we 

can look to arrange an off-site contribution to offset the remainder once the dwelling mix has 

been confirmed. 

 

Waste and Refuse – The on-site infrastructure required by the proposal is the provision of waste 

and recycling containers for each residential unit. The estimated s106 contribution set out in the 

table below is required for the provision of this essential infrastructure to make the application 

acceptable in terms of the policies listed below. This figure is subject to change dependent on 

the confirmed mix of flats and houses, in accordance with section 10 of the attached SPD. 

 

Page 17



Property type 

category 

Contribution per 

house/per category 

Quantity Total 

Individual house £91 26 £2,366 

Bin store for block of 

6-10 flats 

£581 0 £   0 

Bin store for block of 

11-14 flats 

£1,038 0 £   0 

Bin store for block of 

15-18 flats 

£1,474 0 £   0 

  Total £2,366 

 

They also require a planning condition to be imposed in the event of permission being granted, 

which would not allow commencement of development until details concerning how waste 

collections will function on the development are submitted to and agreed by the council, to meet 

the requirements of policies CP3 and WCS6. In effect this would require submitted plans to 

follow the guidance in the SPD. Further details should be provided and illustrated on master 

plans, with regards to how waste collections will function for the refuse crew and vehicle, and 

how waste management will function in relation to storage and collection points. 

 

8. Publicity 

 

The application was advertised by way of site notices and neighbour letters. 160 Letters of 

objection have been received raising the following main issues:- 

 

 Not in line with the Neighbourhood Plan. 

 Too much housing in Calne. Contrary to Calne NP Plan H1 and H4 

 Unsuitable local road network. 

 Other developments are proposed, which will further exacerbate the issues. 

 Loss of green space 

 Lack of services to support increase in housing. 

 Impact on wildlife. 

 Road safety to pedestrians and cyclists etc.contrary to Policy GA2 of the Calne NP 

 Noise disturbance by builders. 

 Route for construction vehicles to use. 

 Being a pedestrian on Anchor Rd is treacherous 

 Building on green fields within walking distance on the town centre. 

 Not next to other residential development – on opposite side of the lane. 

 Ground level differences will make the proposed houses very high and over-bearing. 

 Air Pollution increase. 

 Low Lane is part of a designated cycle route, meaning cyclists come down the track at a 

fast pace. 

 The Illustrative Masterplan doesn’t give enough information. 

Page 18



 Entry level Hosing should form part of the housing already being built. 

 The Calne Neighbourhood Plan was supposed to allocate housing and prevent this type 

of application. 

 Primary schools are already full to the brim. 

 Flooding already occurs along Mill Street due to the crumbling water drains. 

 The pond is not as quoted ie dry. It does support wildlife. 

 Impact on trees on site. 

 Removal of an open space used by dog walkers etc. 

 Water run off down the road/drainage issues 

 Light pollution. 

 Precedent for other development. 

 Brownfield sites should be used 1st. 

 Lack of broadband. 

 There is no need for additional affordable homes and the proposal does not comply with 

the guidance. 

 There are 210 houses for sale just in Calne, 27 new, 12 Help to Buy and 9 under £300. 

 A by-pass is needed to deal with all the additional traffic. 

 Use brownfield sites first. 

 Calne has reached its housing limit. 

 Insufficient doctors etc. 

 2 out of 3 trees are being lost. 

 Precedent for further development. 

 

 

9. Planning Considerations 

 

Environmental Impact Assessment 

      

The proposed development would allow for the erection of 26 dwellings outside any sensitive 

area (i.e. AONB, SSSI, SAM, WHO, etc.).  Therefore, for the purposes of The Town and 

Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 the proposed 

development would not be Schedule 1 development.  Similarly, since the proposed 

development would involve fewer than 150 dwellings, neither would it automatically be Schedule 

2 development as such a number is below the indicative threshold for housing development in 

paragraph 10 (b) (ii).   

 

Since the application site is not located within any particular landscape, heritage, ecological or 

archaeological policy designation and because of the proposal not exceeding any of the 

indicative thresholds within the Regulations, when considered against the criteria in Schedule 3 

to the Regulations, the proposal is considered to be not likely to have significant effects on the 

environment which cannot be adequately considered under the normal planning regieme.  For 

this reason, Environmental Impact Assessment is not considered to be necessary in this 

instance.  

Page 19



 

Principle of the Development – Wiltshire Core Strategy 

 

The starting point for the determination of any application under section 38(6) of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the decision be made in accordance with the 

development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

The primacy of the development plan is enshrined in the NPPF and reaffirmed at paragraphs 2, 

11, 12 and 47 where emphasis is placed upon the importance of a plan led system. The 

development plan for Wiltshire is the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy 2015 (WCS). This is a 

relatively recently adopted Local Plan, approved by full Council on the 20th January 2015 and 

has been thoroughly scrutinised through the examination process and found to be legally 

compliant, sound and in conformity with the then 2012 NPPF. It contains relevant policies a 

spatial strategy and spatial vision, all of which are designed to achieve sustainable development 

objectives within Wiltshire. The Part 2 of this plan – The Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan 

was approved in February 2020. This sought to update settlement boundaries and allocate sites 

for housing development in accordance with the spatial strategies and objectives of the WCS. It 

can now be concluded without debate that the settlement boundary for Calne is up to date.  

 

Core Policy 1 of the WCS identifies the most sustainable locations for growth within Wiltshire on 

the basis of a settlement hierarchy, with the focus on the Principal Settlements and Market 

Towns. Calne is a Principal Settlement within this hieracrchy.  

 

Core Policy 2, the delivery strategy, in line with Core Policy 1, seeks to deliver development in 

Wiltshire between 2006 and 2026 in the most sustainable manner by making provision for at 

least 42,000 homes, distributed across the three housing market areas. The aim of this policy is 

to ensure development occurs in the most sustainable locations in conformity with the 

distribution set out within Core Policy 2. Within the development limits of Principal Settlements, 

Market Towns and Large Villages there is presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Core Policy 2 also lists at paragraph 4.25, exceptions to the rule i.e. what development is 

permissible outside of the settlement boundaries. These are as follows: 

 

• Additional employment land (Core Policy 34)  

• Military establishments (Core Policy 37) 

• Development related to tourism (Core Policies 39 and 40) 

• Rural exception sites (Core Policy 44) 

• Specialist accommodation provision (Core Policies 46 and 47) 

• Supporting rural life (Core Policy 48) 

 

As the proposal is not being brought forward under one of the above exception policies it is 

clear that the development does not accord with the settlement strategy set out in the WCS and, 

by extension, would be considered an unsustainable form of development.  

 

 

Page 20



Principle of the Development – 5YRHLS 

 

Paragraph 73 to the NPPF compels Local Planning Authorities to retain a minimum of five years 

supply of deliverable land for housing against their housing requirement.  The absence or 

otherwise of a five year supply of housing land supply of deliverable housing is a material 

consideration that paragraph 11(d) to the NPPF confirms renders the policies which are most 

important for the delivery of housing within the adopted development plan as being out of date. 

 

It is accepted at the time of writing this report that the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5YR 

supply of deliverable housing. The precise figure is ever evolving but, the Council would assert 

that at this present moment in time it can demonstrate 4.62 years’ worth of housing. An 

approximate shortfall of 810 homes. It is therefore accepted that at the time of determining this 

application, paragraph 11d of the Framework is engaged. This means the policies most 

important to the determination of this application would be considered out-of-date. However, this 

does not mean that they are irrelevant and indeed the Council’s asserts that some weight 

should still be afforded to them.  

 

It has been held in appeal decisions and court judgements that the amount of shortfall is also a 

relevant material consideration. In this particular instance, the shortfall has already been 

regarded as being modest by the Inspector at the recent Purton Road inquiry in Wiltshire in 

February (ref: APP/Y3940/W/18/3202551). The relevance of the shortfall must feed into the 

overall planning balance.  

 

Principle of Development – Paragraph 71  

 

The proposal is being advanced as an entry-level exception site (ELES) which is area of policy 

that the WCS does not contain – understandably so, as the WCS was adopted a few years 

before ELES was introduced in NPPF 2019.  

 

The most relevant policy in this regard would be Core Policy 2 and in principal, the LPA would 

contend that this policy is still up to date (setting aside the 5YRHLS argument) but, where it 

doesn't reference ELES, the LPA would defer to NPPF paragraph 71 specifically in relation to 

those matters not covered in the development plan. Therefore the LPA does not state that the 

tilted balance is engaged by virtue of the WCS not having any policy on ELES i.e. in WCS terms 

it should be treated as though it were an exception to the normal rule in the same manner as 

those policies listed under paragraph 4.25 are.  

 

Turning to paragraph 71 of the NPPF, it is clear that this is an exception to the normal rule i.e. it 

is a policy aimed at securing 100% affordable housing for those looking to buy or rent their first 

home. The wording of this paragraph is as follows: 

 

“Local planning authorities should support the development of entry-level exception sites, 

suitable for first time buyers (or those looking to rent their first home), unless the need for such 

Page 21



homes is already being met within the authority’s area. These sites should be on land which is 

not already allocated for housing and should: 

 

a) comprise of entry-level homes that offer one or more types of affordable housing as 

defined in Annex 2 of this Framework, ie ‘housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs 

are not met by the market (including housing that provides a subsidised route to home 

ownership and/or is for essential local workers)’ and complies with the definition of 

affordable housing for rent, starter homes, discounted market sales housing and other 

affordable routes to home ownership’, and 

 

b) be adjacent to existing settlements, proportionate in size to them, not compromise the 

protection given to areas or assets of particular importance in this Framework, and 

comply with any local design policies and standards. 

 

Entry-level exception sites should not be larger than one hectare in size or exceed 5% of the 

size of the existing settlement and will not be permitted in National Parks (or within the Broads 

Authority), Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty or land designated as Green Belt”.  

 

The Council’s Housing Officer has confirmed that there is an outstanding need for Affordable 

Homes in Calne and the wider area.  Furthermore, the site is not currently allocated for housing.  

 

The application presented to the LPA is for a 100% affordable housing scheme as defined by 

Annex 2 of the NPPF. The breakdown and mix of the type and tenure of affordable housing is 

something that can be secured via a s106 agreement but, for the purposes of paragraph 71 

meets the requirements stipulated under point a).   

 

With regards to point b) of this paragraph, the field itself where the development is proposed lies 

adjacent to the existing settlement. In line with the requirements set out in footnote 33, the 

development is not greater than 1ha in area and does not exceed 5% of the size of the existing 

settlement. Furthermore, it would not compromise the protection given to areas or assets of 

particular importance in this Framework i.e. those areas referred to in footnote 6 of the NPPF. 

 

In principle therefore, the site would meet the criteria set out in paragraph 71 of the NPPF and is 

acceptable in principle.   

 

Highways 

 

Although a reserved matter, the description of the proposed development confirms that means 

of access will be via Low Lane. The illustrative masterplan shows the site of the access and a 

technical layout for that access is a plan for approval. The submitted illustrative masterplan 

shows an indicative road route through the site, but this is not for approval and thus access 

remains a reserved matter. 

 

Page 22



Low Lane is a private Road which connects to Anchor Road, an unclassified section of public 

highway subject to a speed limit of 30mph. Some 90m of the initial section of Low Lane is 

unclassified public highway until the road splits into a residential access and Low Lane, both of 

which are private sections of highway. The proposed development site is bound by Low Lane to 

the west, dwellings on Sandy Ridge, a private cul-de-sac to the south, a PROW and Fields to 

the east and a short section of private access road to the north. 

 

The proposals include a simple priority junction access from Low Lane at a point where the road 

is unclassified public highway. The access has been indicated as 5.5m wide with a 2m section 

of footway along one side of the carriageway, this would be acceptable in terms of serving the 

site and the internal road layout has provisions for turning to enable vehicles to enter and exit 

the public highway in a forward gear. The access has been shown with a 2.4m x 40m visibility 

splay to the west and 2.4m x 22m to the east, this has been stated as being lower on the 

eastern side as speeds are likely to be lower. The private nature of low lane and the width of the 

lane is likely to make speeds lower at this location and I am willing to accept a relaxation for the 

visibility splay here. 

 

There is a PROW footpath to the south of the site, CLAN37, which should remain unaffected by 

the proposals, although it may be desirable to provide a footpath link through to this on the site. 

This can be determined at Reserved Matters stage, when the layout is finalised. 

 

A Transport Statement has been submitted with the application which details the proposals in 

context with regard to access and the local highway network. Existing Traffic Data has been 

supplied with a turning count at the junction of Anchor Road/Brewers Lane in order to establish 

the existing traffic distribution and apply this to the proposals when considering the anticipated 

traffic movements from the development. An Automatic Traffic Counter was also placed on 

Anchor Road in order to establish the base traffic flows on this road, and the speeds on the 

road. This has identified that there are approximately 100 two-way movements in either peak 

period on Anchor Road, the peaks have been determined as 0800-0900 and 1700-1800. The 

majority of two-way movements in the morning peak are attributed to the traffic travelling north, 

with 83/100 solely northbound. The majority of the two-way movements in the identified evening 

peak are also travelling north, with 68/102 solely northbound. The 85th percentile speeds have 

been calculated and are shown to be below the maximum speed limit of 30mph, at 29.3 mph 

northbound and 21.6 mph southbound. The northbound flow data has identified that there is an 

existing issue with rat running on Anchor Road. 

 

With regard to highway safety, the TS has investigated the recorded personal injury Accident 

Data over the 5-year period 1-1-14 to 31-12-2018 and has correctly identified that during this 

period there were no identified Accidents. In November 2019 there was an incident on Anchor 

Road involving a child and a car. This should be taken into account, but it can be seen that in 

terms of recorded accident data there is not a significant safety issue on Anchor Road. There 

are no recorded speed issues on Anchor Road. 

 

Page 23



It has been noted that the central bus stops in Calne are within acceptable walking/cycling 

distances with appropriate cycle parking available. With regard to walking and Cycling, the 

footway network along Low Lane, Anchor Road and Mill Street has been investigated and it has 

been noted that there are footway provisions along the length of Low Lane, Anchor Road and 

Mill Street, albeit only on one side of the road in places. There are no footway provisions on 

Brewers Lane, however there is an alternative route using PROW’s CLAN 37, CLAN30 and 

CLAN 32. Cycle Route NCN403 routes along Low Lane and both Anchor Road and Brewers 

Lane are recommended ‘on road’ cycle routes for access to the town centre and A4 London 

Road. The comments from local residents about conflict between users of the right of way along 

Low Lane for cyclists is noted, but conflict is unlikely to be greater than exists with other 

egresses onto the lane that exist at the moment. 

 

It is stated within the submitted Transport Statement that ‘to facilitate walking and ensure that 

the proposed development is sustainable in transport terms, it is proposed to make contributions 

toward the introduction/upgrade of crossing facilities (dropped kerbs and tactile paving) on the 

route to Calne Town Centre.’ This has been agreed as a figure of £10k to be secured via a 

S106 legal Agreement. 

 

With regard to trip generation and distribution TRICS database has been used and shows there 

to be an anticipated 14 two-way trips in the AM peak and PM peaks. This would not be 

considered to be a significant material increase on the existing recorded traffic levels for Anchor 

Road.  

 

There is an identified existing morning rat run issue with vehicles avoiding London Road by 

travelling along Brewers Lane and Anchor Road, but the Council’s Highways Officer does not 

believe that the additional vehicular traffic from the development will exacerbate the current 

situation to an extent that would justify a refusal and in all other respects is of the opinion that 

Highways could not be justified as a reason for refusal. 

 

Housing 

 

The Council’s Housing Officer has confirmed the requirement for Affordable Homes in Calne 

that are not being met elsewhere and has negotiated with the Applicants to secure a mix of 

housing types (The applicants originally wanted 100% discounted market sale) and has secured 

a mix of Affordable Rent, Discount Market Sale and Shared Ownership all as 2 and 3 bed 

dwellings. 

 

Air Quality 

 

Calne has an Air Quality Management Area and the site lies within close proximity to it. Public 

Protection Officers requested an Air Quality Assessment (AQA) to assess the impact of the 

proposed development. The report indicated no net increase, but the applicant has agreed to a 

condition to provide infrastructure for Ultra Low Energy Vehicles (ULEVs). This is also 

Page 24



considered, together with enhancements for walking routes, to tie in well with Calne Town 

Council’s recent Climate Emergency pledge. 

 

Drainage 

 

Following discussions, the applicant has submitted a revised Drainage Strategy, which 

addressed the Council’s Drainage Engineer’s concerns regarding surface water drainage and 

connections to sewers. There are no drainage matters outstanding. 

 

Ecology 

 

Following concerns raised by the Council’s Ecologist in connection with bat surveys, the 

presence of reptiles and habitat for Dormice together with protection and buffering of 

hedgerows, additional information was submitted which demonstrates that there will not be a 

significant impact on reptiles; there has been no change on site that would affect the bats and 

that there will be no negative impact on Dormice.  

 

The reduction in numbers of houses means that there will be better scope to retain and buffer 

hedgerows and provide replacement planting.  

 

Subject to conditions, the Council’s Ecologist raises no objections. 

 

Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

The proposal is in outline and demonstrates by way of an illustrative masterplan that the site 

can accommodate 26 dwellings. The design of the dwellings and their actual siting will be the 

subject of a subsequent application and any impact on amenity by way of loss of privacy etc can 

be addressed at that stage. Notwithstanding this, the nearest dwelling is approx. 20m from the 

boundary of the site so that distance to the actual houses on Low Lane cannot be less than that, 

and given that an access road will also need to be constructed, is likely to be substantially more. 

 

Heritage Matters 

 

The site lies outside any conservation area and the nearest listed buildings are approx. 130m 

away and are not considered to have their setting affected by the proposal. The application is 

considered to cause no harm to any nearby heritage asset. 

 

Other matters raised 

 

The Tree Officer has no objections subject to those trees shown to be retained being so and 

protected with suitable fencing whilst construction takes place. 

 

Whilst the concerns of the local residents are noted and understood, many have been 

addressed above such as the principle of the development, impact on highways, highway safety 

Page 25



and the Public Rights of Way. Entry level Housing is a new entity, which post-dates the Calne 

Neighbourhood Plan, which could not therefore include its requirements.  

 

Noise by way of construction can be dealt with via a Construction Method Statement. 

 

The comments raised by the Police Liaison Officer can be addressed at Reserved Matters 

stage, but should be balanced against the need to provide on-site POS. 

 

S106 requirements 

 

The following are requirements to be addressed via S106 to the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended):- 

 

 The tenure type and split of the affordable units (100%) 

 Contribution to improvements to pedestrian footways - £10k 

 Contribution to Public Open Space where not provided on site. 

 Waste and Refuse - £2,366 for recycling and waste collection containers 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
Where the proposal does not accord with the Development Plan, (CP1 Settlement Strategy 

CP2 Delivery Strategy,CP8 Spatial Strategy: Calne Community Area; North Wiltshire Local Plan 
Saved Policy H4; and Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan Policy H1 – Housing Allocation; 
Policy; H2 – Affordable Housing; Policy; H4 – Settlement Boundaries and Housing Sites) it is 
argued that a proposal of 26 AH units for first time buyers would bring significant benefits to the 
Council in terms of the following: 
 

 Provision of entry level AH / housing to address 5YRHLS shortfall 

 Expenditure on construction and investment in the area 

 Creation of construction jobs 

 Providing homes for economically active people  

 Financial contributions towards off site and on site infrastructure (highways & refuse 

collection) 

 Public Open Space 

 New native planting and biodiversity enhancements. 

 

At a time where the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a 5 YHLS of deliverable housing 

sites and the relevant policies for housing are therefore considered to be out of date according 

to paragraph 11(d) of the Framework, this weighs in favour of the development and must be 

balanced against any disbenefits. However, notwithstanding this, Para 71 of the NPPF is also 

relevant which seeks to provide Entry Level Housing on the edges of settlements, which this site 

does, subject to several criteria, which this application has demonstrated it complies with.  

 

Page 26



The benefits of the proposal in delivering a para 71 compliant site together with the other 

benefits set out above, in an area where there is a shortfall in affordable homes, is considered 

sufficient to outweigh any conflict with the adopted development plan and site specific concerns 

and those raised by local residents and permission should be granted subject to a S106 

Agreement and conditions. 

 

In other respects, and subject to the imposition of relevant planning conditions, the principle of 

development will not result in an unacceptable impact upon the amenities of surrounding 

residents, the landscape or other factors of acknowledged importance.  Similarly, the creation of 

an access onto Low Lane will not present unacceptable impacts on highway safety or residual 

cumulative impacts on the road network. 

 

Accordingly, the proposal is considered to comply with the requirements of policies CP50, 

CP51, CP56, CP57,CP58, CP60, CP61 and CP67 to the Wiltshire Core Strategy, saved policies 

NE14 and NE18 to the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011, policies GA2, BE1, BE2, BE3 and NE3 

to the Calne Community Neighbourhood Plan as well as relevant sections of the NPPF. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

It is recommended that authority be delegated to the Head of Development Management 
to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions listed below and completion of a 
S106 legal agreement covering Affordable housing, Public Open Space and Highways 
infrastructure matters, within six months of the date of the resolution of this Committee. 
 
In the event of failure to complete, sign and seal the required section 106 agreement 
within the defined timeframe to then delegate authority to the Head of Development 
Management to REFUSE planning permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to 
secure the necessary highway improvements, Affordable Housing provision, POS and 
waste and refuse required to render the development acceptable. 
 

Conditions: 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 

three years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years 

from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, 

whichever is the later. 

 

REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

 

2 No development shall commence on site until details of the following matters (in 

respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority: 

 

Page 27



(a) The scale of the development; 

(b) The layout of the development; 

(c) The external appearance of the development; 

(d) The landscaping of the site; 

(e) The means of access to the site. 

 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 

REASON:  The application was made for outline planning permission and is granted 

to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and Article 5 (1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 

 

3 An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters shall be made to the 

Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 

permission. 

 

REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990.  

 

 

4 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 

out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the 

building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, 

trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 

from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 

years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 

in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 

carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part 

of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with 

the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 

protection of existing important landscape features. 

 

 

5 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 

amending that Order with or without modification), there shall be no additions to, or 

extensions or enlargements of any building forming part of the development hereby 

permitted. 

 

Page 28



REASON:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the Local 

Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning permission should be 

granted for additions, extensions or enlargements. 

 

 

6 No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface 

water from the site (including surface water from the access/driveway), incorporating 

sustainable drainage details, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be first occupied until surface 

water drainage has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 

be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 

agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 

that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the 

development can be adequately drained. 

 

 

7 No development shall commence on site (including any works of demolition), until a 

Construction Method Statement, which shall include the following:   

 

a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  

b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;  

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  

d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;  

e) wheel washing facilities;  

f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;  

g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works; and 

h) measures for the protection of the natural environment. 

i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 

j) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 

Authority. The approved Statement shall be complied with in full throughout 

the construction period. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 

than in accordance with the approved construction method statement. 

 

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 

be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 

agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 

that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental 

effects to the neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment 

to the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway 

safety, during the construction phase. 

Page 29



 

 

8 No development shall commence on site until a scheme of Ultra Low Energy Vehicle 

infrastructure has been submitted to the LPA. The scheme must be approved by the 

LPA prior to implementation and thereafter be permanently retained. 

 

REASON: Core Policy 55; Development proposals, which by virtue of their scale, 

nature or location are likely to exacerbate existing areas of poor air quality, will need 

to demonstrate that measures can be taken to effectively mitigate emission levels in 

order to protect public health, environmental quality and amenity. 

 

 

9 Prior to commencement of clearance or construction works, a detailed Landscape 

and Ecological Management Plan ('LEMP') shall be submitted to the LPA and 

approved in writing, the LEMP shall be thereafter be fully adhered to unless agreed 

otherwise with the LPA. The LEMP shall include measures to ensure no net loss of 

native hedgerow habitat or ecological functionality of hedgerow habitat, through 

planting and management proposals, with suitable buffering of hedgerows to protect 

wildlife including bats. 

 

REASON; To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected species 

through the implementation of detailed mitigation measures and to secure net 

biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF. 

 

 

10 Prior to commencement of clearance or construction works, a detailed Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to the LPA and 

approved in writing, the CEMP shall be thereafter be fully adhered to unless agreed 

otherwise with the LPA. 

 

REASON; To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected species 

through the implementation of detailed mitigation measures and to secure net 

biodiversity gain in accordance with NPPF. 

 

 

11 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Dormouse protection proposals within paragraphs 14 and 15 of the 'Briefing Note: 

Further Ecology Response' Ecology Solutions, March 2020.as already submitted with 

the planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority 

before determination, and as modified by a Natural England European protected 

species licence where required. 

 

Page 30



REASON: To ensure adequate protection and mitigation for protected species 

through the implementation of detailed mitigation measures in accordance with 

NPPF, that were prepared and submitted with the application before determination. 

 

 

12 Before development takes place, details of the provision of biodiversity enhancement 

measures such as bat roosting features and nesting opportunities for birds shall be 

submitted to the local planning authority for approval, including a plan showing the 

location(s) and type(s) of feature(s). The approved details shall be implemented 

before the development hereby approved is first occupied. 

 

REASON: To provide additional biodiversity opportunities as a biodiversity 

enhancement, in accordance with paragraph 175 of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 

2006. 

 

 

13 No new external artificial lighting shall be installed at on site unless otherwise agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: Many species active at night (bats, badgers, otters) are sensitive to light 

pollution. The introduction of artificial light might mean such species are disturbed 

and/or discouraged from using their breeding and resting places, established flyways 

or foraging areas. Such disturbance can constitute an offence under relevant wildlife 

legislation. 

 

 

14 Applications for the approval of the Reserved Matters shall be in accordance with the 

principles and parameters described and illustrated in the approved Design and 

Access Statement and in broad accordance with the structure of the layout shown 

within the approved Illustrative Masterplan (unless otherwise agreed by the LPA). 

 

REASON: To ensure that high standards of urban design is achieved in accordance 

with policies of the Core Strategy, the National Design Guide and the NPPF. 

 

 

15 Applications for the approval of the Reserved Matters shall include a compliance 

statement demonstrating accordance with the approved DAS. With particular regard 

to the matter of appearance, this statement will demonstrate compliance with the 

design guidelines of the Calne Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

REASON: To ensure that the character of architecture, urban design and landscape 

design is in accordance with policies of the Core Policy 57 and the Calne 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 31



 

 

16 No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site, and; no 

equipment, machinery or materials shall be brought on to site for the purpose of 

development, until a Tree Protection Plan showing the exact position of each          

tree/s and their protective fencing in accordance with British Standard 5837: 2012: 

"Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction -Recommendations"; has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and;  

 

The protective fencing shall be erected in accordance with the approved details. The 

protective fencing shall remain in place for the entire development phase and until all 

equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Such 

fencing shall not be removed or breached during construction operations. 

 

No retained tree/s shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained 

tree/s be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans and 

particulars. Any topping or lopping approval shall be carried out in accordance British 

Standard 3998: 2010 "Tree Work - Recommendations" or arboricultural techniques 

where it can be demonstrated to be in the interest of good arboricultural practise. 

 

If any retained tree is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another tree shall be 

planted at the same place, at a size and species and planted at such time, that must 

be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 

No fires shall be lit within 15 metres of the furthest extent of the canopy of any 

retained trees or hedgerows or adjoining land and no concrete, oil, cement, bitumen 

or other chemicals shall be mixed or stored within 10 metres of the trunk of any tree 

or group of trees to be retained on the site or adjoining land. 

 

[In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be retained in 

accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs above shall 

have effect until the expiration of five years  

 

REASON: To protect trees on site in the interests of landscape amenity. 

 

17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19 

Any Reserved Matters application shall be accompanied a strategy to demonstrate 

how waste collections will function on the development are submitted to meet the 

requirements of policies CP3 and WCS6.  

 

REASON: To ensure the site can be sufficiently serviced. 

 

 

 

Page 32



The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: Revised Illustrative Masterplan 301.P.3.1 and Revised 

DAS received March 5th 2020; Location Plan and Proposed Access Plan H638/01 

received 10th December 2019. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

 

 

 

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  

The applicant is requested to note that this permission does not affect any private 

property rights and therefore does not authorise the carrying out of any work on land 

outside their control. If such works are required it will be necessary for the applicant 

to obtain the landowners consent before such works commence. 

 

If you intend carrying out works in the vicinity of the site boundary, you are also 

advised that it may be expedient to seek your own advice with regard to the 

requirements of the Party Wall Act 1996. 

 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  

Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. 

Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning Officer where they 

are to be found. 

 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 

Any alterations to the approved plans, brought about by compliance with Building 

Regulations or any other reason must first be agreed in writing with the Local 

Planning Authority before commencement of work. 

 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  

This permission shall be read in conjunction with an Agreement made under Section 

106 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 and dated the [INSERT]. 

 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 

The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent 

chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 

(as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the development is 

determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the 

amount of CIL payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 

submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, 

you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the 

relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL Commencement 

Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to 

Page 33



commencement of development.  Should development commence prior to the CIL 

Liability Notice being issued by the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or 

relief will not apply and full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. 

Should you require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to 

the Council's Website 

www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructur

elevy. 

  

 

 

 

Page 34

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7a 19/11601/OUT - Land South of Low Lane, Calne, SN11 8EQ
	19.11601.OUT - Location Plan


